



Diagnosing Corruption in Healthcare

Transparency International (TI) is the world's leading nongovernmental anti-corruption organisation. With more than 100 chapters worldwide, TI has extensive global expertise and understanding of corruption.

The Pharmaceuticals & Healthcare Programme is a new global initiative based in Transparency International UK. Applying Transparency International's strengths and expertise, the Programme's overall goal is to improve global health and healthcare outcomes for the benefit of all people of all ages. It aims to achieve this by reducing corruption and promoting transparency, integrity and accountability within the pharmaceutical and healthcare sectors

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank Savannah Wisdom for their generous financial support to make the research possible.



Authors:

Michael Petkov - Programme Officer, Transparency International's Pharmaceuticals & Healthcare Programme

Dr Deborah Cohen - Investigative Health Journalist and Associate Editor of the BMJ

Design: Philip Jones

Illustration: Matt Goodall

© 2016 Transparency International UK. All rights reserved. Reproduction in whole or in parts is permitted, providing that full credit is given to Transparency International UK (TI-UK) and provided that any such reproduction, in whole or in parts, is not sold or incorporated in works that are sold. Written permission must be sought from Transparency International UK if any such reproduction would adapt or modify the original content.

Published October 2016.

ISBN: 978-1-910778-60-9

© Cover photo: Transparency International's Pharmaceuticals & Healthcare Programme

Every effort has been made to verify the accuracy of the information contained in this report. All information was believed to be correct as of October 2016. Nevertheless, Transparency International UK cannot accept responsibility for the consequences of its use for other purposes or in other contexts.

Printed on 100% recycled paper.

Transparency International UK's registered charity number is 1112842.

Diagnosing Corruption in Healthcare

Table of contents

Foreword	1
Introduction	3
Health system governance	6
Health system regulation	
Research and development	
Marketing	
Procurement	14
Product distribution and storage	
Financial and workforce management	
Delivery of healthcare services	20
How we did it	
Bibliography	

Foreword

Corruption is pervasive within healthcare to the extent it has become normalised. From the politician to the patient, corruption is part of doing business in the healthcare sector all over the world.

Research conducted by **Transparency International's Pharmaceuticals & Healthcare Programme (PHP)** has shown that individuals in the healthcare sector do not always understand what corruption is and how it may undermine their work. Conversely, anti-corruption specialists do not always understand and appreciate the complexity of the health care system. This map – a project that will be kept updated – attempts to bridge that gap by providing for the first time, a comprehensive and accessible guide to a health system and the types of corruption that may occur.

Information collected from a literature review, key informant interviews, and a survey with healthcare professionals was used to identify the main corruption types in the healthcare sector and provide contextual information on the profile for each type. The result is **37 corruption types** organised into **eight areas** of a health system.

This report offers an overview of the findings from the project. Further content including explanations for each corruption type, case studies, podcasts, and further reading can be found at our website **ti-health.org**.





Introduction

Every day, all around the world, people suffer and die due to corruption in the healthcare sector. It disproportionally affects vulnerable groups, who do not have the knowledge, money or connections to access the care or products they need. While **corruption can occur in every area of a health system**, corruption from the highest levels will trickle down to effect healthcare received by patients at local health care facilities.

There are several broad effects of corruption in healthcare. Distorted policy, legislative and clinical priorities; a loss of money from health systems; denied or delayed access to health care services and treatment; and a loss of trust in national health facilities, personnel and to a wider extent national governance as a whole.

However, the specific cost of corruption is almost impossible to measure. Like other forms of white-collar crime corruption is inherently hidden from sight and even when some forms of corruption are discovered it is hard to quantify their impact.

In order to meet Sustainable Development Goal 3 that aims to ensure healthy lives and promote the wellbeing of all people of all ages, all groups in healthcare must collectively tackle corruption.

Health systems are particularly vulnerable to corruption for several reasons. Information asymmetry between individuals and groups, susceptibility of the patient, the complexity of the products, and the large sums of money cascading through the health system all play a part. Nor are factors that influence health outcomes limited to changes in health policy and legislation. Trade policies, education systems and nutrition practices all impact directly or indirectly on health.

Some of the experts interviewed have gone so far as to argue that the whole system is broken, as multiple individuals, companies and groups involved in healthcare are placing their private self-interests over wider public health goals. But applying the definition of corruption – the abuse of entrusted power for private gain – is not always straightforward. In health, it may be fair to say that all individuals, companies and groups are entrusted to provide or support the delivery of products or services that healthcare depends on.

Who is ultimately responsible for the health of the global population? When does market failure and waste become corruption? When does criminal activity committed by those who are not "entrusted" become corruption? And when does something that is considered unethical become outright abuse of entrusted power for private gain?

While forms of corruption such as bribery, conflicts of interest and fraud can occur throughout a health system, this map identifies how they specifically occur in different parts of a health system. The **37 identified types of corruption are clustered into eight categories**, shown on the next page, that represent different areas of the healthcare sector. Though these corruption types do not occur in an isolated part of a system - their effects often lead to other types of corruption occurring. For example, a doctor that is encouraged to pay for a promotion may try to offset the cost by demanding bribes from patients. Some corruption types are easy to identify, while others are implicit and more complex.

However, all 37 corruption types have one thing in common – they negatively impact health systems and health outcomes.





Health System Governance

Distorted policies and legislation will negatively affect public health goals and have a cascading effect throughout the health system.

Health System Regulation

Regulation implemented to protect patients from the dangers of healthcare services and treatments can be exploited by individuals, companies and groups.



Research & Development

Corruption in research and development can lead to unsafe or ineffective products entering the health system and medical knowledge being compromised.

Marketing

The improper marketing of products in the healthcare sector can lead to the use of inappropriate products and unnecessary treatments.





Procurement

Corruption in procurement can lead to the purchase of obsolete, dangerous, ineffective, or undelivered products, facilities and services.

Product Distribution & Storage

During distribution and storage genuine products may be stolen and falsified, substandard and re-packaged products can enter the health system.





Financial & Workforce Management

The theft of healthcare funds and corruption in the management of healthcare providers will limit the quality of healthcare services delivered to patients.

Delivery of Healthcare Services

Any type of corruption during the delivery of a healthcare service will directly impact on the quality and level of care offered to patients by healthcare providers.

Health system governance

Health system governance determines the primary objectives of a health system and the direction of policy and legislation needed to achieve these. Political institutions are responsible for seeking a compromise between the different groups in the healthcare sector, while ensuring public health needs and goals are met. This governance process of policy and legislation setting is required at all levels of the health system, from the international to the local. **Corruption in governance at the higher levels of the health system will have serious and wide-ranging impacts**, affecting the services and treatments delivered to patients.

Lobbying itself is an accepted part of policy making, acting as a legitimate avenue for groups to share their opinions and expertise with policy makers. However, when it is conducted without integrity and transparency, powerful groups are able to have a disproportionate influence.

Some individuals, companies and groups have disproportionate resources in comparison to others in the sector. This may allow them to push for their own interests to be met at the expense of public health goals. Those in powerful positions are able to unduly influence politicians and policy makers through intense lobbying, donations or support for political campaigns, or by offering employment after service. In cases where interests align powerful groups may cooperate to influence the policy making process to further their own interests.

Alternatively, politicians may have conflicts of interest such as personal connections or financial interests with specific suppliers or health facilities, which they may help by developing favourable policy.

In some countries, corrupt governance is overt and easy to identify. Where there's systemic corruption, bribes, favouritism and the revolving door may be viewed as an integral part of politics. In other parts of the world corrupt governance can be obscure and be conducted in sophisticated ways to subvert the system. Rather than outright bribes, powerful groups will use less obvious methods to gain influence such as undue lobbying. In both cases increased transparency and accountability of decision-making processes can make the identification of corruption easier to identify and tackle.

The effect of powerful groups unduly influencing policy has been gaining attention in certain areas of healthcare. On a global level, the Report of the United Nations Secretary-General's High-Level Panel on Access to Medicine highlighted the difficulty in holding governments and suppliers accountable for the impact of their policies and actions on access to health technologies, due to a lack of transparency in trade and investment agreements.

Capture of health policy

Powerful individuals, companies or groups use corruption to influence policies to benefit their own private interests.

Health system regulation

The healthcare sector is one of the most heavily regulated sectors in many countries. Following a number of major scandals in the twentieth century such as the thalidomide disaster in the 1960s, wide-ranging regulation has been implemented in health systems to ensure that medicines are safe to use, healthcare professionals are adequately trained, and health facilities meet certain standards. For this reason, corruption in healthcare regulation is a serious issue and recognised as such – failures or breaches of regulation put patients in danger.

Corruption in regulation can involve officials demanding or accepting gifts and favours in return for providing approval or accreditation of a product, healthcare professional, health facility or college.

Alternatively, a conflict of interest may result in the official unduly awarding certification. For example, those being regulated may have to pay for the regulatory processes that apply to their product.

In Europe, medical device manufacturers have to pay one of dozens of companies, called notified bodies, to assess scientific information that shows a product is safe and in some instances effective. If the notified body deems the product to be safe then they will grant them a CE certificate to allow the company to sell their product.

However, there are risks of corruption with this process. Manufacturers can 'shop around' to find a notified body who will approve the device, with notified bodies competing with each other to provide the service. Since many notified bodies are 'for profit' they rely on manufacturers for custom, both then and in the future. Moreover, notified bodies have to conduct regular audits of the product once it's on the market. These again are paid for by the manufacturer and there is a risk that a notified body will fail to act on concerns about a product.

These types of corruption are not constrained to individual cases. Entire sections of healthcare regulation can be captured by select groups, termed regulatory capture, and as a result serve their personal interests. In these situations powerful individuals and companies will ensure that they benefit most from the regulatory process and can dominate the healthcare sector.

To ensure regulation is successful and corruption risks minimised, regulatory agencies must be sufficiently resourced, independent from outside influence and have policies that ensure transparency and accountability for key procedures.

For example, guidelines outlining the criteria for inspecting a manufacturing site may necessitate inspectors with rotating schedules to ensure no close relationships develop with manufacturers. Adequate resources and independence for regulatory authorities depends on sufficient political support.

Inappropriate approval of products

Officials approve or expedite the approval process due to personal or political connections with the supplier or the receipt of improper inducements.

Improper product quality inspection and GMP certification

Officials approve the quality of the manufacturing process or of the product itself due to personal or political connections with the manufacturer or the receipt of inducements.

Inappropriate product selection

Individuals or groups select a product for a national product list due to personal or political connections with an official or the receipt of improper inducements.

Improper healthcare professional accreditation

Individuals or groups approve a healthcare professional's qualifications due to personal or political connections with the professional or the receipt of improper inducements.

Inappropriate health facility certification

Officials provide unwarranted certification to a health facility due to personal or political connections with the facility operators or the receipt of improper inducements.

Inappropriate health college certification

Officials provide unwarranted certification to a health college due to personal or political connections with the college owners or the receipt of improper inducements.

Research and development

Research and development is the first stage in getting a product to a patient. Public, private or a mixture of public and private investment supports the development of medicines, medical devices and other healthcare technologies. Regulations vary around the world about what kind of evidence is required to get a product onto the market. Medicines, for example, must undergo studies and trials to determine their benefits and harms to ensure that they are safe to use. Other health care products, such as medical devices, require a less robust standard of evidence to allow them onto the market.

The main interaction at this stage is between companies manufacturing or marketing the product, researchers, contract research organisations (CROs) and of course, study or trial participants. Companies may fund academic researchers at universities and CROs to design, run and then report the study or trial results.

However, this interaction is at risk of conflicts of interest that can encourage actors to abuse their positions. Both researchers and CROs receive funding from companies that have an interest in the randomised controlled trials and other studies showing the benefits of their products. CROs may want to get further work, and therefore funding, from the companies. Researchers, as well as wanting further work from the companies, may have an academic interest in the results being positive – particularly if they have dedicated their careers to studying a particular area.

These particular conflicts may lead researchers, CROs or companies to under-report the negative findings of trials/studies or select a study design that will show the product in the best possible light, thereby abusing their entrusted power as research investigators. This has serious repercussions as medical knowledge that forms the basis of diagnosis and treatment in healthcare will be compromised by biased studies. Healthcare providers rely on this knowledge to offer patients the best treatments, while patients depend on this information to make choices about the type of care they want.

This is in contrast to the *Declaration of Helsinki*, first adopted in 1964 and having undergone seven revisions since, a widely recognised source of ethical guidance for biomedical research. The Declaration states the need to disseminate research results, including negative and inconclusive studies, and for all studies to be publicly registered, to make it harder for negative and unethical studies to go unnoticed and unchallenged.

Other companies and groups involved in the research process such as universities and journals, gatekeepers of medical knowledge, are also at risk of conflicts of interests and bribery. This also applies to journalists and other commentators on the research findings, for example experts, professional and patient groups, who may subvert the interpretation of the evidence to the public.

There is a particular risk that funders may exploit patients involved in clinical trials in low-and middle-income countries, abusing their positions as providers of safe, ethical trials to produce effective products. **One key issue is that trial participants may not be able to give fully informed consent**. In countries where there are issues with access to healthcare, some experts say that patients are unable to give genuine consent as turning down clinical trial participation is the equivalent of turning down treatment. Other issues include companies not obtaining fully informed consent, as the patients they target sign up to trials without fully understanding the described risks, and that patients are offered inadequate post trial access to treatment.

Abuse of research funding systems

Researchers deceive funders by deliberately misusing allocated funds.

Improper trial/study design

Researchers design a trial/study to produce misleading findings that will support the production and use of a product.

Improper trial/study conduct

Researchers conduct a trial/study to produce misleading findings that will support the production and use of a product.

Misleading dissemination of trials/studies

Individuals, companies and groups involved in the dissemination of trial/study results suppressing negative findings or facilitating an incorrect presentation that deceives.

Marketing

Suppliers regularly interact with a range of individuals and groups to share information about their products and promote their use. In an effort to expand the use of these products to increase their profits and expand their market share, suppliers may use corrupt marketing practices, while unethical healthcare providers may see these interactions as an opportunity to solicit payments.

From explicit gifts and implicit research grants, to suppliers distorting the presentation of evidence relating to the benefits and harms of products, suppliers can influence healthcare providers so they use and prescribe their products rather than those of their competitors.

Suppliers may also encourage healthcare professionals to act as spokespeople for specific products, which is a particularly effective way for suppliers to market their products. A healthcare professional can effectively promote a product is they are respected in the healthcare community and appear as impartial to their peers, particularly if a conflict of interest is not declared.

Across the world, **marketing interactions between suppliers and healthcare providers are controlled by a mixture of government regulation and self-regulation**. A range of industry association codes have set the marketing practices expected of suppliers, while initiatives can be introduced that encourage members to disclose online the gifts and hospitality they have provided to healthcare professionals. For example, the European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industries and Associations (EFPIA) introduced a Disclosure Code in 2014, with reporting commencing in 2016. In the US, the *Physician Payments Sunshine Act* requires healthcare suppliers to disclose financial relationships with doctors. However, in most of the world this is not mandatory, and penalties are minimal.

A driving force for marketing malpractice are the incentives offered to sales representatives by

suppliers. Bonuses can encourage or pressure sales representatives to increase their sales in any way possible, disregarding codes of conduct and policies that mandate ethical marketing. This becomes a greater risk if a sales representative's salary is driven largely by bonuses.

Suppliers can improperly market their products using more implicit means such as by setting the curriculum of continuing education programmes, using post-marketing studies to actually promote their products, or widening the diagnostic boundaries of illnesses. It is arguably harder to tackle these practices as they are often well hidden and involve the production and dissemination of medical knowledge.

Improper inducements to healthcare professionals

Healthcare professionals demand or accept gifts and favours from a supplier in return for prescribing or advocating for the inclusion of a product on a product list.

Improper inducements to health facilities and health officials

Health facilities or health officials demand or accept gifts and favours from a supplier in return for purchasing or placing a product on a product list.

Improper inducements to patient organisations or professional associations

Patient organisations or professional associations demand or accept gifts and favours from a supplier in return for an advantage.

Distortive funding of continuing education

Powerful companies shape the content of continuing professional development programmes for healthcare professionals to promote their products.

Improper post-marketing trials/studies

Suppliers use trials/studies for determining the safety of products after use to actually market their products.

False or misleading product claims

Suppliers promote a product for unapproved uses or overstate the available evidence.

Disease mongering

Suppliers convince healthy patients they are sick, or people with mild conditions they are seriously ill.

Procurement

Procurement in health involves the purchase of products, supplies, equipment and related services, as well as the commissioning of the construction of health facilities. For medicines this comes after a product has been selected for inclusion on a national reimbursement list and/or a health facility list. This is a considerable expense in most health budgets, with drug procurement budgets being significantly high in low-and middle-income countries.

Effective procurement processes result in high-quality and cost-effective products being purchased in the correct volume, at the right time and that are aligned to health needs. In contrast, corruption in procurement wastes resources and potentially leads to dangerous products entering the health system. The high volume and value of contracts in the healthcare sector make this a high corruption risk.

Procurement is primarily an interaction between suppliers and healthcare providers. The process can be divided into three stages: pre-bid in which the purchase need is determined and the specifications for a contract are set; bid in which suppliers submit their proposals for assessment by procurement officials who will then choose the winner; and post-bid in which the contract is delivered by the supplier and monitored by officials.

Officials can use this as an opportunity to exploit suppliers by demanding bribes in return for giving the supplier a contract. Likewise, suppliers can offer bribes to officials, which may be more likely when they are under pressure or in a highly competitive environment where the need to win a contract is higher. The actual process of **giving a bribe to an official often occurs through the use of intermediaries** such as product distributors.

National procurement laws will influence the corruption risks and necessary anti-corruption measures in this area in public health systems, by providing requirements for how tenders are set and evaluated. Measures can be implemented to reduce the opportunities for corruption in procurement by increasing transparency and accountability. One such measure is open contracting which is the practice of publishing and using open and accessible information throughout the procurement process, beginning with publishing needs assessments and continuing through to quality assurance and contract completion. By increasing procurement transparency civil society can track purchases and hold officials to account.

Unnecessary or ineffective purchases

Procurement officials deliberately set requirements and purchase products, supplies, services and construction that are not needed.

Rigged contract requirements

Procurement officials fix the bidding process so to pre-determine the winner.

Preferential selection of contractor

Officials determine the winner of a tender due to inducements from a supplier or personal considerations between the two actors.

Collusion between bidders

A secret agreement between suppliers to conspire and commit actions to deceive a transparent and competitive tender process.

Unfulfilled contract delivery

Suppliers do not provide the services or goods as required in a contract or provide them to a lower quality than agreed.

Product distribution and storage

During the distribution of products from manufacturers to storage facilities the primary risk is the theft and diversion of products. As many individuals are involved in this process there are numerous opportunities for theft.

The loss of products increases the cost of healthcare for payers. If a significant number of medicines are stolen at medical stores this can lead to insufficient medicines reaching health facilities, leading to a medicine stock-out with no medicines available. As patients are unable to access the medicines they require they can either seek the medicine privately, probably at a higher cost, or they can simply forgo treatment.

To prevent theft and diversion, **distribution systems must be well designed with adequate resources for operation**. Secure containers in storage facilities, tracked deliveries and centralised record systems can all reduce loss. Similarly, improving working conditions and wages for individuals involved in the distribution and storage process may lessen the danger of theft and diversion.

Weak distribution and storage systems increase the risk of falsified and substandard products entering the health system. The proliferation of these products is also linked to ineffective regulatory processes for product approval and controlling manufacturing quality. Despite falsified and substandard medicines being an issue for all countries, the effects are disproportionately felt in low-and middle-income countries that lack the resources to identify them and the channels used for their distribution.

A challenge for regulatory agencies is that falsified and substandard products are often produced in other countries and they are therefore dependent on the actions of other regulatory agencies. Furthermore, **as patients increasingly turn to the internet to purchase products**, **regulatory authorities face new challenges in tackling the flow of these potentially dangerous medicines**. A number of technological measures can be applied to product packaging by regulatory authorities including specialised barcodes, holograms or scratch panels, to better allow users to identify genuine products.

Unauthorised re-packaged, non-sterile and expired products may also enter the health system at this stage. The more products move back and forth between wholesalers, distributors and providers, the greater the chance that products can be re-packaged and sold as new.

Theft and diversion of products

Officials, healthcare providers or other individuals and groups steal medicines, medical devices and supplies during the distribution and storage process.

Infiltration of falsified and substandard products

Officials, healthcare providers or other individuals and groups introduce fake and poor quality medicines and medical devices into the health system.

Re-packaged non-sterile and expired products

Officials, healthcare providers or other individuals or groups repackage products in order to sell them as new.

Financial and workforce management

A good health workforce requires well-trained staff that are productive. A well-functioning health financing system involves adequate funds that are delivered on time. Both are crucial to providing high quality healthcare services to patients. However, without good governance, transparency and accountability, corruption can thrive.

The public sector health workforce is often one of the biggest employers in a country. Management procedures that provide effective oversight must be implemented to ensure that jobs and promotions are given based on merit, workers do not skip work while still claiming a salary, and workers do not steal medicines, equipment and supplies. A strong culture of integrity is crucial to minimising these corruption risks, including a speak up policy for healthcare workers to inform management about colleagues involved in corrupt activities, without the fear of retaliation.

The theft of funds from health systems is a serious issue in many countries. The loss of healthcare funds reduces the total amount available to provide services and treatments for patients. This can force health facilities to charge fees to patients for services that should be free. The effects are most serious when politicians and prominent officials at the highest levels of a health system steal funds, as the size of the funds taken can endanger the entire system.

Minimising the risk of embezzlement requires good management processes, reliable record keeping, and regular audits. Donor funds are at a higher risk for theft and diversion as their use is harder to track and control, particularly in environments where cash payments are predominant.

Payers must also be aware of healthcare provider fraud. For example, healthcare providers may provide false reimbursement claims for services that were unnecessary or that were actually not provided. In health systems where this is a high risk, payers must devote sufficient resources to carry out effective checks on healthcare providers applying to provide reimbursed treatments, to adequately check claims and to investigate potential false claims.

Inappropriate selection for jobs, promotions and training

Employment opportunities are given to healthcare providers based on personal connections and inducements rather than merit.

Absenteeism

Healthcare providers purposefully do not attend work and do not fulfil their responsibilities despite claiming a salary.

False treatment reimbursement claims

Healthcare providers overcharge healthcare funders for services provided to patients or charge for services that were actually unnecessary or undelivered.

Embezzlement and misuse of national funds

Officials, healthcare providers or other individuals steal or deliberately divert national funds allocated for healthcare services.

Embezzlement and misuse of donor funds

Officials, healthcare providers or other individuals steal or deliberately divert donor funds allocated for healthcare services.

Delivery of healthcare services

Service delivery is the part of a health system where patients receive the treatment and supplies they are entitled to. All the other parts of the health system examined in this map support the delivery of healthcare services and, as a result, corruption in these other areas will indirectly impact on the quality of delivery. For example, unpublished harms data from clinical trials could lead to healthcare providers basing the treatments they give on unsound medical knowledge.

However, there are multiple forms that corruption can take specifically in the delivery of healthcare services. **Corruption here has a negative impact on access to services**, compromising the ability of governments to provide healthcare to citizens. Likewise the quality of care can be diminished as patients receive needless treatments. Vulnerable populations will be most affected as they struggle to meet unofficial or unnecessary payments and instead may choose to forgo treatment or seek treatment from unauthorised providers.

Some experts suggest that low wages and poor working conditions for healthcare workers are the causes of corruption in this part of the health system. For example, doctors may demand informal payments from patients and provide private practices using public resources, as they seek to subsidise their wages with other or higher payments. Others have suggested that **these corruption types should be seen as an effect of wider governance failures in the health systems** including limited oversight of worker performance and minimal sanctions for malpractice. However, in other instances it may simply be an abuse of power to satisfy greed.

These corruption types can be **prevalent in both high-income and low-and middle-income countries**. Regulators in all health systems must implement measures to minimise the risks of prevalent types of corruption in healthcare service delivery.

Informal payments from patients

Unofficial, under-the-table payments from patients to healthcare providers in return for receiving healthcare services.

Unnecessary referrals and procedures

Healthcare workers encourage patients to have services or treatments they do not require, in return for receiving a benefit from the party performing the service.

Private use of public products, equipment, facilities or time

Healthcare providers divert patients to private care and use publicly paid for supplies, facilities and time.

Favouritism

Healthcare professionals offer preferential service or better treatment to friends, family members or specific groups at the expense of the wider population.

Overcharging for services or providing inferior services

Patients are overcharged by a healthcare provider or health facility for the services they receive, or patients do not receive the level or quality of service they should receive.

Manipulation of outcome data

Health facilities or healthcare providers exaggerate, distort or suppress data on the standard of care received by patients.

How we did it

This project aims to increase the awareness and understanding of corruption in the healthcare sector. Information collected from a literature review, key informant interviews, and a survey with healthcare professionals was used to identify the main corruption types in the healthcare sector and provide contextual information on the profile for each type.

The map of corruption in the healthcare sector identifies 37 types of corruption that are present in health systems worldwide. These corruption types are organised into eight categories that represent different areas of the healthcare sector. A corruption type is placed in the category in which it is most likely to appear, though some corruption types may be applicable to other categories. For example, the corruption type improper inducements to healthcare professionals is placed in the marketing category, but can apply to purchasing decisions that are covered in the procurement category.

Each corruption type has a definition and explanatory text. For each category, explanatory text, a podcast, and case studies offer an overview of corruption and topical issues in that area. Additional resources are referenced to enable users to explore each category in more detail.

The process for identifying and exploring corruption types consisted of the following phases:

- An initial study conducted in 2015 provided the basis of the research. The pharmaceuticals & healthcare sector value chain was mapped to provide a framework of corruption categories, which was supported by key pieces of literature. Corruption types were then organised into the corruption categories based on an analysis of 228 media reports using desk based research.
- A detailed literature review of existing research on corruption in healthcare. This
 included books, journal articles, papers published by international organisations and
 NGOs, as well as media articles. The literature review yielded an overview of the
 research and practitioner literature on corruption types in the healthcare sector. This
 was used to identify key corruption types and add to the explanatory text of each
 type.
- Thirty interviews were conducted July September 2016 with healthcare experts. Experts were selected from each world region to ensure responses provided a broad global perspective. They included compliance directors at pharmaceutical companies, national investigators of healthcare fraud and corruption, and specialist doctors. All discussed their personal and professional experiences of corruption and commented on the structure of the corruption map. Interviews were conducted either face-to-face or by phone. Experts were offered the opportunity to participate anonymously. The interviews provided: information for use in the corruption types' explanatory text; feedback on the structure and utility of the map; and information and specific case studies for use in the podcasts.
- An online, anonymous survey was made available to healthcare professionals worldwide. It asked healthcare professionals about their experiences of corruption in the healthcare sector and was distributed through email exchange networks, social media, and the Guardian Healthcare Professionals Network. The survey was online from 1/08/16 to 01/10/16. Responses from 138 individuals were received from 37 countries, from all world regions. Doctors were by far the most common respondent type and comprised nearly half of the responses received. The survey provided general findings to support the inclusion of corruption types in the project.

The intention is to update this map and the constituent corruption types, following further research at the global and national levels.

A common question from experts interviewed for the project was how to apply the definition of corruption in the healthcare sector. Transparency International defines corruption as the abuse of entrusted power for private gain. In the healthcare sector, corruption negatively impacts health outcomes at both the individual and population levels. As most groups in the sector are responsible for conducting services or providing products that improve health outcomes, this definition can be applied broadly. Thus, a major task in this project has been to explore the application of corruption in the healthcare sector.

Bibliography

Anderlini, J. (2016) *Bribery built into the fabric of Chinese healthcare system*. Available at: <u>https://next.ft.com/content/9b8979e2-f45f-11e2-a62e-00144feabdc0</u> [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

Bateman, C. (2013) *Drug stock-outs: Inept supply-chain management and corruption*. Available at: <u>http://www.samj.org.za/index.php/samj/article/view/7332/5356</u> [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

Bhaumik, S. (2013) 'Can India end the corruption in nurses' training?', *BMJ*, 347, pp. f6881–f6881

Bouchard, M., Kohler, J.C., Orbinski, J. & Howard, A. (2012) 'Corruption in the health care sector: A barrier to access of orthopaedic care and medical devices in Uganda', *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, 12 (1), pp. 1-9.

Brinkerhoff, D.W. and Bossert, T.J. (2013) 'Health governance: Principal-agent linkages and health system strengthening', *Health Policy and Planning*, 29(6), pp. 685–693.

Brown, A. (2013) 'Understanding pharmaceutical research manipulation in the context of accounting manipulation', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 611–619.

Button, M & Leys, C. (2012) *Healthcare Fraud in the new NHS market – a threat to patient care*. CHPI.

Cassin, R. (2011) *Johnson & Johnson in \$77 Million global settlement*. Available at: <u>http://www.fcpablog.com/blog/2011/4/8/johnson-johnson-in-77-million-global-settlement.html</u> [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

Chatterjee, P. (2012) 'How free healthcare became mired in corruption and murder in a key Indian state', *BMJ*, 344, pp. e453–e453.

Chattopadhyay, S. (2013) 'Corruption in healthcare and medicine: Why should physicians and bioethicists care and what should they do?', *Indian Journal of Medical Ethics*, 10(3).

Chaudhury, N., Hammer, J., Kremer, M., Muralidharan, K. & Rogers, F.H. (2006) 'Missing in action: Teacher and health worker absence in developing countries', *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 20(1), pp. 91–116.

Cosgrove, L. & Wheeler, E.E. (2013) 'Drug firms, the codification of diagnostic categories, and bias in clinical guidelines', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 644–653.

D'Silva, J. (2015) 'India's private medical colleges and capitation fees', *BMJ*, 350, pp. h106– h106.

Department of Justice. (2016) *Medical equipment company will pay* \$646 Million for making illegal payments to doctors and hospitals in United States and Latin America. Available at: https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/medical-equipment-company-will-pay-646-million-making-illegal-payments-doctors-and-hospitals [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

Dizon-Ross, R., Dupas, P., & Robinson, J. (2016) 'Governance and the Effectiveness of Public Health Subsidies', *National Bureau of Economic Research*, Working Paper 21324, pp.1-50.

Dossey, L. (2010) *Creating disease: Big Pharma and disease Mongering*. Available at: <u>http://www.huffingtonpost.com/dr-larry-dossey/big-pharma-health-care-cr_b_613311.html</u> [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

Durisch, P., den Boer, A., Schipper, I., & Kohli, A. (2016) *Industry-sponsored clinical drug trials in Egypt: Ethical questions in a challenging context*. Raphaël de Riedmatten.

Economist, T. (2014) *The \$272 billion swindle*. Available at: <u>http://www.economist.com/news/united-states/21603078-why-thieves-love-americas-health-care-system-272-billion-swindle</u> [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

European Commission. (2013) *Study on Corruption in the Healthcare Sector*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Gadre, A. (2015) 'India's private healthcare sector treats patients as revenue generators', *BMJ*, 350, pp. h826–h826.

Gagnon, M.-A. (2013) 'Corruption of pharmaceutical markets: Addressing the misalignment of financial incentives and public health', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 571–580.

Godlee, F. (2015) 'Medical corruption in the UK', BMJ, 350, pp. h506-h506.

Gornall, J. (2015) 'The truth about cash for referrals', BMJ, 350, pp. h396-h396.

Gray, G.C. (2013) 'The ethics of pharmaceutical research funding: A social organization approach', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 629–634.

Heighton, L., Malnick, E., Newell, C., Telford, L. & Fayaz, S. (2015) *Lavish trips laid on by drugs firms to 'sway' NHS staff*. Available at: <u>http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/nhs/11755884/Lavish-trips-laid-on-by-drugs-firms-to-sway-NHS-staff.html</u> [Accessed: 24 August 2016].

Hussman, K. (2010) *How to Note: Addressing Corruption in the Health Sector*. Department for International Development.

Hussman, K. (2011) Vulnerabilities to Corruption in the Health Sector: Perspectives from Latin America Sub-systems for the Poor (With a Special Focus on the Sub-National Level). UNDP.

Hussman, K., & Rivillas, J.C. (2015) 'Financial Blood-letting in the Colombian Health System: Rent-seeking in a Public Health Insurance Fund', in Tina Søreide ed., *Corruption, grabbing and development: Real world challenges*.

Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. (2013) *Countering the Problem of Falsified and Substandard Drugs*.

Jorgensen, P.D. (2013) 'Pharmaceuticals, political money, and public policy: A theoretical and empirical agenda', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 561–570.

Khemani, S. (2005) 'Local government accountability for health service delivery in Nigeria', Journal of African Economies, 15(2), pp. 285–312.

Kohler, J.C. (2011) Fighting Corruption in the Health Sector: Methods, Tools and Good *Practices*. UNDP.

Krishnan, V. (2014) 'India turns spotlight on kickbacks for referrals', *BMJ*, 349, pp. g5265–g5265.

Landa, A.S. & Elliott, C. (2013) 'From community to commodity: The ethics of Pharma-Funded social networking sites for physicians', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 673–679.

Maduke, T. (2013) *Corruption in Health Sectors of Low- and Middle- Income Countries*. Leadership, Management & Governance Project.

Maureen Lewis. (2006) 'Governance and Corruption in Public Health Care Systems', *Center for Global Development*, Working Paper Number 78, pp.1-57.

Light, D.W., Lexchin, J. & Darrow, J.J. (2013) 'Institutional corruption of pharmaceuticals and the myth of safe and effective drugs', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 590–600.

MacAskill, A., Stecklow, S. & Miglani, S. (2015) *Special report: Why India's medical schools are plagued with fraud*. Available at: <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/us-india-medicine-education-specialrepor-idUSKBN00W1NM20150617</u> [Accessed: 18 August 2016].

Mackey, T.K. & Liang, B.A. (2012) 'Combating healthcare corruption and fraud with improved global health governance', *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, 12(23).

Meagher, P., (2006) 'Prescription for Abuse? Pharmaceutical Selection in Bulgarian Healthcare', in Susan Rose-Ackerman ed., *International Handbook on the Economics of Corruption*. Cheltenham: Elgar, Edward Publishing.

Mi, H. (2013) *Why do Vietnam's patients bribe their doctors?* Available at: <u>http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-23237285</u> [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

Molloy, C. (2015) *Milburn, the NHS, and Britain's 'revolving door'*. Available at: <u>https://www.opendemocracy.net/ournhs/caroline-molloy/milburn-nhs-and-britains-revolving-door</u> [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

Narayan, A. & Philip, S. (2012) Indian drug regulator accused of corruption and collusion. Available at: <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2012-05-10/indian-drug-regulator-accused-of-corruption-and-collusion</u> [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

ONE. (2015) *Curing the sickness in Slovakian healthcare contracts*. Available at: <u>https://www.one.org/international/follow-the-money/case-studies/curing-the-sickness-in-slovakian-healthcare-contracts/</u> [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

Pulla, P. (2014) 'Medical council of India is corrupt, says health minister', *BMJ*, 349, pp. g4762–g4762.

Rispel, L.C., de Jager, P. & Fonn, S. (2015) 'Exploring corruption in the south African health sector', *Health Policy and Planning*, 31(2), pp. 239–249.

Rodwin, M.A. and Abramson, J.D. (2012) 'Clinical trial data as a public good', *JAMA*, 308(9), p. 871.

Rodwin, M.A. (2013) 'Five un-easy pieces of pharmaceutical policy reform', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 581–589.

Rodwin, M.A. (2013) 'Rooting out institutional corruption to manage inappropriate off-label drug use', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 654–664.

Rose, S.L. (2013) 'Patient advocacy organizations: Institutional conflicts of interest, trust, and Trustworthiness', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 680–687.

Rose-Ackerman, S., (2015) 'Corruption in the Procurement of Pharmaceuticals and Medical Equipment in China: The Incentives Facing Multinationals, Domestic Firms and Hospital Officials', *Faculty Scholarship Series*, Paper 4945.

Ross, T. (2015) *Jeremy Hunt: NHS bosses face jail over links to drug firms*. Available at: <u>http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/health/11818749/Jeremy-Hunt-NHS-bosses-face-jail-over-links-to-drug-firms.html</u> [Accessed: 7 October 2016].

Sah, S. and Fugh-Berman, A. (2013) 'Physicians under the influence: Social psychology and industry marketing strategies', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 665–672.

Sapkota, R. (2017) *Manufacturing fake doctors*. Available at: <u>http://nepalitimes.com/article/nation/Nepal-medical-education-system-infested-by-corrupt-investors-with-political-protection,2585</u> [Accessed: 18 August 2016].

Segato, L. et al. (2013) *Corruption and Waste in the Health System*. Transparency International Italia.

Semrau, K., Scott, N., & Vian, T. (2008) Embezzlement of Donor Funding in Health Projects. *U4 Brief*, 11.

Sismondo, S. (2013) 'Key opinion leaders and the corruption of medical knowledge: What the Sunshine Act will and won't cast light on', *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 41(3), pp. 635–643.

Sosa-Iudicissa, M., & Tejedor del Real, P. (2012) *Disease Mongering (Pseudo-Disease Promotion*. European Parliament.

Transparency International. (2006) Global Corruption Report 2006. London: Pluto Press.

Transparency International. (2009) *The Anti-Corruption Plain Language Guide*. Transparency International.

Vian, T. (2007) 'Review of corruption in the health sector: Theory, methods and interventions', *Health Policy and Planning*, 23(2), pp. 83–94.

Vian, T. (2014) Corruption Risk Assessment in the Health Sector in Kosovo. UNDP.

Vian, T., Brinkerhoff, D.W., Feeley, F.G., Salomon, M. & Vien, N.T.K. (2012) 'Confronting Corruption in the Health Sector in Vietnam: Patterns and prospects', *Public Administration and Development*, 32(1), pp. 49–63.

WHO. (2016) Substandard, spurious, falsely labelled, falsified and counterfeit (SSFFC) medical products. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs275/en/</u> [Accessed: 1 September 2016].

Wysong, W. (2015). *Medical Device Loans: Transparency is Key to Anti-Corruption*. Clifford Chance.

Wolinsky, H. (2005) 'Disease mongering and drug marketing', EMBO reports, 6(7), pp. 612–614.

Gaitonde, R., Oxman, A.D., Okebukola, P., & Rada, G. (2016) 'Interventions to reduce corruption in the health sector', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews.*



www.transparency.org.uk